กลไกที่เกี่ยวข้องในการกระตุ้นการแปรสภาพเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูกจากสารสกัดเอเชียติโคไซด์ใน เซลล์เอ็นยึดปริทันต์ของมนุษย์



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีววิทยาช่องปาก คณะทันตแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2559 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN ASIATICOSIDE-INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION IN HUMAN PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT CELLS

Miss Atika Resti Fitri

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Oral Biology Faculty of Dentistry Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2016 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	MECHANISM ASIATICOSI DIFFERENT PERIODONT	MS DE-INDUC IATION TAL LIGAM	INVOL ZED IN IENT C	VED IN OSTEOGENIC HUMAN ELLS
Ву	Miss Atika Re	esti Fitri		
Field of Study	Oral Biology			
Thesis Advisor	Associate Sumrejkancha	Professor anakij, Ph.D	Doc	tor Piyamas

Accepted by the Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

> Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry (Assistant Professor Doctor Suchit Poolthong, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE	
	Chairman
(Professor Doctor	r Prasit Pavasant, Ph.D.)
	Thesis Advisor
(Associate Profes	sor Doctor Piyamas Sumrejkanchanakij, Ph.D.)
	Examiner
(Assistant Profess	sor Doctor Sireerat Sooampon, Ph.D.)
	External Examiner
(Associate Profes	sor Doctor Nirada Dhanesuan, Ph.D.)

อะติกา เรสติ ฟิตริ : กลไกที่เกี่ยวข้องในการกระตุ้นการแปรสภาพเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูก จากสารสกัดเอเชียติโคไซด์ในเซลล์เอ็นยึดปริทันต์ของมนุษย์ (MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN ASIATICOSIDE-INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION IN HUMAN PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT CELLS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: รศ. ทญ. ดร. ปิยมาศ สำเร็จกาญจนกิจ, 64 หน้า.

เอเชียติโคไซด์เป็นสารสกัดจากสมุนไพรบัวบก ที่มีชื่อวิทยาศาสตร์ว่า Centella asiatica (L.) Urban ซึ่งพบว่ามีผลในการกระตุ้นการแปรสภาพของเซลล์เอ็นยึดปริทันต์มนุษย์ไป เป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดก อย่างไรก็ตาม กลไกการทำงานของเอเชียติโคไซด์ยังไม่ทราบแน่ชัด การศึกษาครั้งนี้จึงมีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษากลไกการทำงานของเอเชียติโคไซด์ในการกระตุ้นการ แปรสภาพของเซลล์ โดยเซลล์เนื้อเยื่อเอ็นยึดปริทันต์มนุษย์จะถูกกระตุ้นด้วยเอเชียติโคไซด์ที่ความ เข้มข้น 10, 25, 50, 100 ไมโครโมลาร์ ความมีชีวิตของเซลล์จะถูกทคสอบด้วยเทคนิกเอ็มทีที การ แสดงออกของอาร์เอ็นเอนำรหัสจะถูกตรวจสอบด้วยเทคนิคปฏิกิริยาลูกโซ่โพลิเมอเรสชนิดรีลไทม์ และการสะสมแร่ธาตุในจานเลี้ยงเซลล์จะถูกวิเคราะห์ด้วยการวัดการทำงานของเอ็นไซม์อัลคาไลน์ ฟอสฟาเทสและการข้อมสีอะลิซาลินเรด การข้อมสีฟลูออเรสเซนซ์และเทคนิกเวสเทิร์นบลอท จะ ใช้เพื่อบอกตำแหน่งของโปรตีนเบต้า-แคทีนินภายในเซลล์ ข้อมูลจะถูกทดสอบด้วยสถิติอะโนวา ที่ ระคับความเชื่อมั่น 0.05 จากผลการศึกษาพบว่า เอเชียติโคไซค์ไม่มีผลต่อการมีชีวิตของเซลล์ เซลล์ ที่ถูกกระตุ้นด้วยเอเชียติโคไซด์จะมีการแสดงออกของอาร์เอ็นเอนำรหัสของออสเทอริก ดีเอ็มพี1 และดีเอสพีพี เพิ่มขึ้นอย่างมีนัยสำคัญ การทำงานของเอ็นไซม์อัลคาไลน์ฟอสฟาเทสและการสะสม แร่ธาตุในจานเลี้ยงเซลล์ก็เพิ่มขึ้นด้วยเช่นกัน เป็นที่น่าสนใจว่าเอเชียติโคไซด์สามารถกระตุ้นการ แสดงออกของอาร์เอ็นเอนำรหัสของ วินท์3เอ ตามความเข้มข้นที่เพิ่มขึ้น ในขณะที่ไม่มีผลต่อ วินท์ 5เอ และวินท์-10ปี การกระตุ้นการส่งสัญญาณผ่านวินท์ถูกยืนยันด้วยการเพิ่มปริมาณของโปรตีน เบต้า-แคทีนินในนิวเคลียส การใส้รีคอมบีแนนท์ดีเคเค1 สามารถยับยั้งการส่งสัญญาณผ่านวินท์ได้ ้ โดยการยับยั้งการเคลื่อนย้ายตำแหน่งของเบต้า-แคทีนินไปยังนิวเคลียส นอกจากนี้ผลของเอเชียติโค ้ไซด์ในการกระตุ้นการแสดงออกของยืนบ่งชี้การแปรสภาพไปเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูกจะลดลงใน ภาวะที่มีดีเคเค1 จากผลการศึกษาดังกล่าวนี้แสดงให้เห็นว่าเอเชียติโคไซด์มีบทบาทในกลไกการ กระตุ้นการแปรสภาพไปเป็นเซลล์สร้างกระดูกผ่านการกระตุ้นการส่งสัญญาณผ่านวินท์/เบต้า-แคที ้นินในเซลล์เอ็นยึดปริทันต์ของมนุษย์ ซึ่งองก์ความรู้ที่ได้จะมีประโยชน์ในการพัฒนาสารสกัดที่ใช้ ส่งเสริมการเจริญทดแทนในทางคลินิกต่อไป

สาขาวิชา	ชีววิทยาช่องปาก	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	2559	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

5775837432 : MAJOR ORAL BIOLOGY

KEYWORDS: ASIATICOSIDE; PDL CELLS; OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION; WNT; β-CATENIN

> ATIKA RESTI FITRI: MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN ASIATICOSIDE-INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION IN HUMAN PERIODONTAL LIGAMENT CELLS. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. DR. PIYAMAS SUMREJKANCHANAKIJ, Ph.D., 64 pp.

Asiaticoside is an active compound isolated from Herb *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban, which has been shown to induce osteogenic differentiation in human periodontal ligament (hPDL) cells. However, the mechanism of action of asiatioside remains poorly understood. The aim of this study was to investigate the mechanism involved in asiaticoside-induced osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells. hPDL cells were treated with 10, 25, 50, 100 µM of asiaticoside and cell viability was tested by MTT assay. The mRNA expression levels were analyzed by using quantitative realtime PCR. Osteogenic differentiation was determined by alkaline phosphatase activity assay and alizarin red staining. The subcellular localization of β -catenin was demonstrated by immunofluorescence and western blot analysis. Data were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) at p < 0.05. Asiaticoside did not influence the cell viability. Following asiaticoside stimulation, OSX, DSPP and DMP1 mRNA were significantly enhanced. ALP activity and mineralized nodule formation were also markedly induced. Interestingly, asiaticoside dose-dependently increased WNT3A, but not WNT5A and WNT10B. The activation of Wnt signaling was confirmed by the increase of nuclear β -catenin localization. Recombinant DKK1 could inhibit the Wnt signaling by blocking the translocation of β -catenin into the nucleus. Moreover, asiaticoside-induced osteoblastic gene expression was significantly diminished by DKK1. These results demonstrate that asiaticoside is likely involved in osteogenic differentiation by activating Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway and as a potential agent to promote tissue regeneration in clinical application.

Field of Study: Oral Biology Academic Year: 2016

Student's Signature	
Advisor's Signature	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praise and gratefulness belongs to Allah who has granted me enormous blessing and strength to finally complete my thesis.

I would like to utter a lot of gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Piyamas Sumrejkanchanakij, Ph.D as my thesis advisor for all support, guidance, advice, and assistance that genuinely beneficial during my educational period and in the process of thesis completion. I also thank to all thesis committee; Prof. Dr. Prasit Pavasant, Ph.D; Assist. Prof. Dr. Sireerat Sooampon, Ph.D; and Assoc. Prof. Nirada Dhanesuan, Ph.D for worthwhile comment and suggestion to improve the value of this thesis.

I acknowledge my gratitude for the opportunity to study in Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University which was supported by H.M. King Bhumibol Adulyadej's 72nd Birthday Anniversary Scholarship from Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University and the grant of this research was provided by Research Unit of Mineralized Tissue and Faculty Research Grant, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University (DRF 59018).

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to the teachers and stuffs for the knowledge they have taught me for all this time. Many thanks to my colleagues in the Research Unit of Mineralized Tissue for the great spirits and very welcoming atmosphere.

And the last, I would immensely thank to my parents and brother for their overwhelming supports and love, and encouraging me to have this achievement.

CONTENTS

Page
THAI ABSTRACTiv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
CONTENTSvii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background and rationale
1.2 Research Question
1.3 Research Objectives
1.4 Research Hypothesis
1.5 Expected outcomes
1.6 Keywords
1.7 Research Design
1.8 Conceptual framework
CHAPTER II
LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Biological properties of <i>Centella asiatica</i> and its compounds10
2.2 Regenerative capacity of periodontal ligament tissue
2.3 Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal cells15
2.4 Wnt signaling in osteogenesis
2.5 The role of DSPP and DMP1 in bone and tooth
CHAPTER III
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
3.1 Ethical considerations
3.2 Samples24
3.3 Asiaticoside preparation

3.4 Cell visbility assay	Page
2.5 DNA estruction	25
3.5 KINA extraction	25
3.6 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	26
3.7 Alkaline Phosphatase Assay	28
3.8 Matrix mineralization assay	28
3.9 Immunofluorescence	29
3.10 Protein isolation and Western blot	29
3.11 Statistical analysis	31
CHAPTER IV	32
RESULT	32
4.1 Objective 1: To demonstrate the effect of asiaticoside on hPDL cell viability	y.32
4.1.1 Effect of asiaticoside on viability of hPDL cells	32
4.2 Objective 2: To investigate the effects of asiaticoside in osteogenic differentiation by hPDL cells	33
4.2.1 Asiaticoside induces osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells	33
4.3 Objective 3: To show the involvement of Wnt associated genes and the activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in asiaticoside stimulated cells	35
4.3.1 The effect of asiaticoside on mRNA expression of Wnt-associated genes	35
4.3.2 Asiaticoside-stimulated hPDL cells leads to the Wnt signaling activation	37
4.3.3 Asiaticoside upregulates downstream targets of Wnt/β-catenin signaling	39
4.4 Objective 4: To show the inhibiton of the targets of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway by DKK1 in asiaticoside-treated hPDL cells	g 41
4.4.1 rh-DKK1 inhibited asiaticoside-stimulated β-catenin nuclear translocation	41
4.4.2 rh-DKK1 attenuated asiaticoside-induced expression of osteoblastic gene markers	42
CHAPTER V	45

	Page
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	.45
REFERENCES	.51
VITA	.64



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 1 Primers sequences for real-time PCR	27

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure 2.1 Chemical structures of asiaticoside, madecassoside,	
asiatic acid, and madecassic acid	11
Figure 2.2 The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway action	20
Figure 4.1 Effect of asiaticoside on hPDL cell viability	32
Figure 4.2 Asiaticoside stimulates osteogenic differentiation on hPDL cells	34
Figure 4.3 Effect of asiaticoside on the expression of Wnt-related genes	36
Figure 4.4 Asiaticoside-stimulated hPDL cells leads to the Wnt	
signaling activation	38
Figure 4.5 The upregulation of <i>DSPP</i> and <i>DMP1</i> expression by asiaticoside	40
Figure 4.6 rh-DKK1 attenuated nuclear β -catenin in hPDL cells	41
Figure 4.7 rh-DKK1 attenuated asiaticoside-induced expression of	
osteoblastic gene markers	43
Figure 5.1 Schematic model of the proposed mechanism of asiaticoside	
inducing osteogenic differentiation by hPDL cells	49

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background and rationale

Nowadays, many herbal plants containing active compounds are widely used to treat various diseases in humans. *Centella asiatica* (L.) Urban is a well-known herb that belongs to the family *Apiaceae*, commonly found in some tropical areas (James and Dubery 2009; Bylka et al. 2014). Numerous studies showed that this tropical plant has diverse medical functions including wound healing acceleration, antidepressant, antibacterial, antifungal and treatments such as leprocy, lupus, and asthma (Hashim et al. 2011). The majority of *Centella asiatica* in skin treatment has been investigated in dermatoses patients such as hypertrophic scars, burns, and excoriations (Bylka et al. 2014).

Centella asiatica yields secondary metabolite product known as triterpenoid saponin that determine the biological activities of this herb (James and Dubery 2009). Asiaticoside belongs to triterpenoid saponin which acts as one of the bioactive components. It has shown to have roles in substantial wound healing (Lee et al. 2012), anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidative, and anti-ulcerative activity (Tang et al. 2011). Lee et al. found that asiaticoside promoted wound healing through increased cell migration and proliferation in human dermal fibroblasts (Lee et al. 2012). Asiaticoside has shown to stimulate wound healing in fibroblasts by increasing synthesis of collagen type I. The induction of collagen type I synthesis was confirmed via Smad activation in the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) pathway (Lee et al. 2006). Moreover, it has been shown that asiaticoside stimulated collagen type I synthesis and induced osteogenic differentiation in human periodontal ligament (hPDL) cells (Nowwarote et al. 2013). Recently, in particular conditions such as progressive periodontal defect or extensive bone loss, in which tissue regeneration is required to restore tissue function, a tissue engineering approach can be an alternative to reconstruct the damaged tissues. Progenitor cells with the capacity to differentiate into specific tissue are important to achieve this purpose (Han J. et al. 2014). It has been demonstrated that PDL tissue contains heterogenous cell populations with potential stem cell properties. PDL cells were able to form colonies from single-cell and proliferate rapidly, indicating its high rate replicative potential. Mineralized nodule formations were also observed in these cells when cultured in osteogenic differentiation medium (Seo et al. 2004; Nagatomo et al. 2006; Ohta et al. 2008; Alvarez et al. 2015).

Many signaling pathways have been investigated for their roles in stem cell differentiation. Growth factors act as ligands binding to the receptors to initiate cell signaling activation. Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)/TGF- β pathways are the mainly well-known signaling pathways involved in osteogenesis of mesenchymal cells. BMP 2, 4, 6, 7, and 9 were shown to induce osteogenic activity in C2C12 cell line (Luu et al. 2007). Wnt signaling pathway was involved in bone formation and regulate the expression of osteoblast gene markers (Glass et al. 2005; Takada et al. 2007; Felber et al. 2015). Loss function of Wnt developed cementum impairment and root resorption in the molars of genetically mutated mice (Lim et al. 2014).

Transcription factors such as Osterix (Osx) and Runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) which are known as master transcription factors in osteogenesis have

critical functions in differentiation of mesenchymal cells (Kozhevnikova et al. 2008). The mutated genes resulted in severe bone malformation in mice (Otto et al. 1997; Nakashima et al. 2002). During tooth development, both of Runx2 and Osx are indispensable in odontogenesis at different stages of development. Runx2 regulates other related genes required in osteoblast and odontoblast differentiation. Similar to Runx2, Osx is strongly expressed during bone and teeth formation in the mesenchyme (Chen et al. 2009).

Non collagenous proteins including dentin sialophosphoprotein (DSPP) and dentin matrix protein1 (DMP1) are known to have essential roles in bone and dentin mineralization. DSPP is constitutively expressed in odontoblasts thus indispensable to dentin mineralization. DSPP is also expressed in bone to regulate bone remodeling, but its expression is much lower than in dentin (Verdelis et al. 2008). DMP1 is not only highly expressed in mineralized dentin, but also by osteoblasts and osteocytes. Knockout of *DMP1* gene resulted in the reduction of mineralized bone in mice with low mineral content and the increase of crystal size (Ling et al. 2005). Deletion of *Dspp* gene in mice caused severe alveolar bone loss both in the furcation and interdental region as well as periodontal ligament destruction. Cementum devastation was observed in the periapical area of the mandibular first molar compared with wild type (WT) mice and mineralization around the osteocyte lacunae was also affected (Gibson et al. 2013).

Asiaticoside has been known to induce osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells. However, the molecular mechanism of asiaticoside to promote osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells remains unclear. The aim of this study was to investigate which signaling pathway involved in asiaticoside action in hPDL cells. Therefore it may allow the use of asiaticoside as a potentially biocompatible material to stimulate tissue regeneration in periodontal therapy.

1.2 Research Question

Does asiaticoside induce osteogenic differentiation in human periodontal ligament cells via Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway?

1.3 Research Objectives

Objective 1: To demonstrate the effect of asiaticoside on hPDL cell viability **Experimental design:** Cells were seeded at a density 6×10^4 cells/well in a 24-well plate. After reaching confluent, medium was changed into serum free medium. Cells underwent serum starvation for 6 hour before treated with asiaticoside at concentration of 10, 25, 50, and 100 μ M for 1, 2 and 3 day. MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay was performed to show cell viability and the absorbance was measured at 570 nm.

Chulalongkorn University

Objective 2: To investigate the effects of asiaticoside in osteogenic differentiation of hPDL cells

Experimental design: Cells were harvested in a 12-well plate after treatment with asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M) for 1 and 3 days in growth medium (10% DMEM). Total cellular RNA was extracted with Trizol reagent and converted into cDNA by using reverse transcriptase system. Quantitative real time PCR was performed to show the mRNA expression level of osteogenic gene markers in asiaticoside-treated hPDL cells. To show the effects of asiaticoside in the late stage of osteogenic differentiation,

cells were seeded at a density 6 x 10^4 cells/well in a 24-well plate. The cells were treated with osteogenic induction medium containing asiaticoside. The medium was changed every 2 day. After 10 and 14 day, alkaline phosphatase enzymatic activity and alizarin red staining were performed respectively.

Objective 3: To show the involvement of Wnt associated genes and the activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in asiaticoside stimulated cells

Experiment design: Cells were harvested in a 12-well plate after treatment with asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M) for 1 and 3 days in growth medium (10% DMEM). Total cellular RNA was extracted with Trizol reagent and converted into cDNA by using reverse transcriptase system. Quantitative real time PCR was performed to show the mRNA expression level of *WNT3A*, *WNT5A*, *WNT10B*, *DKK1*, and *AXIN2*. The activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling was confirmed by β -catenin nuclear translocation to the nucleus. Nuclear and cytoplasmic proteins were extracted by cell lysis buffer, whereas the whole cell lysate was extracted by RIPA buffer. Translocated β -catenin proteins in the nucleus were determined by western blot and immunocytochemistry.

Objective 4: To show the inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway by DKK1 in asiaticoside-induced expression of osteoblastic gene markers

Experiment design: To confirm whether cell differentiation induced by asiaticoside is mediated via Wnt/ β -catenin signaling cascade, recombinant human DKK1 (rh-DKK1) as an inhibitor of Wnt was added to block β -catenin translocation leading to the reduced expression of target genes. Cells were treated with rh-DKK1 100 ng/ml 60 minutes prior to asiaticoside. The inhibition of β -catenin localization in the nucleus was confirmed by western blot and immunocytochemistry. The mRNA expression of downstream targets was analyzed by real time PCR, whereas the protein expression was detected by immunocytochemistry.

1.4 Research Hypothesis

Asiaticoside induces osteogenic differentiation in human periodontal ligament cells by stimulating Wnt/β -catenin signaling pathway

1.5 Expected outcomes

This study will improve our understanding of the molecular mechanism in asiaticoside-induced osteogenic differentiation, thus allowing asiaticoside as a potential agent to clinically use in tissue regeneration.

1.6 Keywords

- Asiaticoside
- Human periodontal ligament cells
- Osteogenic differentiation
- Wnt signaling
- β-catenin

1.7 Research Design

• Laboratory experimental study

1.8 Conceptual framework



CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Biological properties of *Centella asiatica* and its compounds

Centella asiatica has been well known as a medicinal plant in most of Asian countries for a hundred years (Hashim et al. 2011). Several names of this herb plant are known such as *Gotu kola*, Indian pennywort, pegaga, or *mandukparni* (Gohil et al. 2010; Hashim et al. 2011; Bylka et al. 2014). *Centella asiatica* has approximately 50 species, which can grow either in tropical or subtropical areas (James and Dubery 2009; Alfarra and Omar 2013). The herbaceous *Centella asiatica* sprout abundantly in humid and swampy areas, which include India, Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, Madagascar, Sri Lanka, Australia and some areas in Southern part of Africa (James and Dubery 2009; Mato et al. 2011).

The major compound of *Centella asiatica* is pentacyclic triterpenoid consisting of four main chemical constituents, namely asiaticoside, madecasosside, asiatic acid and madecassic acid (James and Dubery 2009; Bylka et al. 2014). The pentacyclic triterpenoid of *Centella asiatica* is arranged in a steroid-like structure composed of a triterpene aglycone skeleton consisting of two subtypes, *oleanane* and *ursane* (James and Dubery 2009). Two bioactive components of *Centella asiatica* are triterpenoid saponins consisting of asiaticoside and madecassoside, and triterpenoid saponins comprising madecassic and asiatic acid (Mangas et al. 2008; James and Dubery 2009). Triterpenoid saponin as secondary metabolites synthesized in *Centella asiatica* is chemically structured as a 30-carbon skeleton that forms a pentacyclic

configuration with a glycosylated side chain, but sapogenin (aglycone) does not have a glycoside chain on its structure (Figure 2.1) (James and Dubery 2009; Dubery 2011).



Figure 2.1. Chemical structures of asiaticoside (A), madecassoside (B), asiatic acid (C), and madecassic acid (D) (Modified from James J and Dubery I, 2011)

However, these triterpenoids may have distinct compound content levels in *Centella asiatica* plants in different regions. An investigation conducted in Madagascar exhibited an asiaticoside content of this herb of approximately 2.6-6.42% dry weight. Each part of the plant similarly contains diverse levels of triterpenoids, with the highest quantity (asiaticoside and madecassoside) found in the leaves and the lowest concentration of asiaticoside in the roots (James and Dubery 2009).

Several studies showed the beneficial effects of *Centella asiatica* extract. It might induce the synthesis of collagen on fibroblast cells (Hashim et al. 2011). Bonte et al. discovered that a mixture of asiaticoside, madecassic and asiatic acid compounds stimulated the synthesis of collagen type I secretion on human dermal fibroblasts (Bonte et al. 1994). Similarly, Maquart et al. found that titrated extract from *Centella asiatica* enhanced the synthesis of collagen in a dose-dependent manner, but that asiatic acid was the solely active constituent participating in the

stimulation of collagen synthesis (Maquart et al. 1990). A clinical trial was performed randomly in 20 female volunteers of approximately 45-60 years old in order to investigate the effect of 0.1% madecassoside application combined with 5% vitamin C on skin treatment. After a six-month therapy, the skin restored its elasticity, firmness, gentleness and hydration, which showed an appealing interaction of a madecassoside/vitamin C combination on skin remodeling (Haftek et al. 2008). Bian et al. found that the protective effect of madecassoside in human umbilical vein endothelial cells against lipid peroxidation and H_2O_2 -induced apoptosis was achieved via the raised mitochondrial membrane potential, the suppression of caspase-3 activation and p38 MAPK phosphorylation (Bian et al. 2012). Because of the valuable role of *Centella asiatica* in collagen synthesis stimulation, this herb plant has been mostly applied in human skin treatment.

Asiaticoside has been considerably studied for its various biological activities and demonstrated to have anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory as well as anti-ulcerative effects (Tang et al. 2011). A number of investigations related to the efficacy of *Centella asiatica* Urban on wound healing acceleration has been accomplished by many researchers (Rosen et al. 1967; Wu et al. 2012; Shukla et al. 1999). Lu et al. demonstrated that either mRNA or protein expression levels of particular genes (e.g. collagen type I and III, biglycan, etc.) involved in the synthesis of extracellular matrix was enhanced in asiaticoside-induced fibroblasts (Lu et al. 2004). Asiaticoside exhibited wound healing properties in human skin cells through migration, as well as cell proliferation ability. Either fibroblasts or keratinocytes showed enhanced migration and adhesion after asiaticoside treatment (Lee et al. 2012). Various concentrations of asiaticoside (10 pg, 1 ng, or 100 ng/wound area) topically applied in burn wound-treated mice demonstrated an increased production of interleukin (IL)-1 β , monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in exudates of burn wounds. Similarly, burn wound healing was found in asiaticoside-treated cells through the initiation of angiogenesis by induction of MCP-1 expression in keratinocytes and IL-1 β expression in macrophages that drive to the increase of VEGF production (Kimura et al. 2008).

Repression of fibroblast proliferation and collagen production in keloid were demonstrated after asiaticoside treatment through suppressing TGF-BRI and TGFβRII expression and increasing Smad7 expression (Tang et al. 2011). In addition, asiaticoside stimulated the synthesis of type I collagen and promoted osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells after treatment with asiaticoside for 14 day (Nowwarote et al. 2013). Another investigation in asiaticoside-injected rats showed that asiaticoside alleviated 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced Parkinson's disease through maintenance of dopamine turnover, as well as its antioxidant property (Xu et al. 2012). Asiaticoside showed potential antipyretic and anti-inflammatory activities of LPS-induced inflammation in rats by blocking inflammatory mediators, such as COX-2, PGE2, TNF-α and IL-6 (Wan et al. 2013). Likewise, asiaticoside might protect against LPS/D-GalN-induced liver injury via reduction of TNFa expression levels as well as blockage of the MAPK signaling pathway (Zhang et al. 2010).

2.2 Regenerative capacity of periodontal ligament tissue

PDL serves as a connective tissue embedding the tooth in the alveolar bone. PDL tissue has a pivotal role to preserve teeth from any likely destructive effect, such as excessive mechanical loading or periodontal disease that may occur during its presence in jaws (Choi et al. 2011; Bueno et al. 2013). It also has a function to maintain cellular homeostasis required in periodontal healing. The abilities of the PDL include proliferative property, collagen synthesis, cementum or root resorption and repair, and even alveolar bone remodeling (Shimono et al. 2003). PDL contains a large amount of blood vessels required for vascularization of the tooth. It also contains many types of cells, such as fibroblasts as the main population, as well as osteoblasts and osteoclasts, macrophages, mesenchymal cells, cementoblasts and endothelial cells (Lekic and McCulloch 1996; Choi et al. 2013).

In dentistry, some particular conditions require new tissue generation, such as periodontal tissue loss due to periodontal disease, or augmented bone requirement for dental implant treatment (Kao et al. 2009). This is known as tissue engineering, which utilizes the regenerative ability of human living tissue to restore the tissue loss or defect (Vinaya Bhat 2011). There are three components that directly take part in tissue engineering: cells, signaling molecules, and supporting matrix. These three factors are manipulated in a proper condition to establish tissue regeneration (Kao et al. 2009).

It has been shown that PDL cells can have characteristics of stem cells including self-renewal capacity, differentiation ability into other cell types (e.g. cementoblast-like cells, adipocytes, and collagen-forming cells), as well as expression of stem cell markers (Seo et al. 2004; Nagatomo et al. 2006). PDL cells were positively expressed CD105, CD166, and STRO-1, which assert the mesenchymal stem cell markers (Nagatomo et al. 2006). Furthermore, PDL cells might also have potential to differentiate into cementoblastic/osteoblastic cells, adipocytes, and collagen-forming cells under particular culture condition (Seo et al. 2004; Nagatomo et al. 2006). PDL cells cultured in osteogenic medium for 4 weeks produced positively mineralized nodules formation on alizarin red staining. Oil red O-positive cells were observed in PDL cells within 3 weeks induction of adipogenic medium. An was conducted transplanting PDL cells in-vivo experiment by in immunocompromised mice to demonstrate the cells ability to transform into functionally cementoblast-like cells (Seo et al. 2004). Other several studies showed that mineralized matrix formation in hPDL cells was observed in osteogenic mediumcultured cells (Seo et al. 2004; Hakki et al. 2014; Ye et al. 2014). Nagatomo et al. found that mineralized nodules were formed in PDL cells after culturing in growth medium for 14 days and changing into osteogenic medium until day 21 (Nagatomo et al. 2006).

2.3 Osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal cells

Mesenchymal cells can undergo osteogenic differentiation through three different stages, which consist of proliferation, early differentiation, and terminal differentiation followed by matrix maturation. In the first stage, the cells start proliferating until day 4, at which the cell count is highest. The number of cells eventually reaches a plateau phase lasting up to day 14, after which it reduces due to cell apoptosis. Secondly, the early differentiation stage may also involve some growth factors as initiator proteins in cellular signaling to promote osteogenic differentiation in human mesenchymal cells. In this step, the cells release a vast amount of extracellular matrix protein, collagen type I, that subsequently go through matrix mineralization (Huang et al. 2007).

Transcription factors regulate and play critical roles in this differentiation stage. Runx2, Osx and Dlx5 have been recognized as master of transcription factors in osteogenesis. Runx2, which is also known as Cbfa1/Pebp2aA/AML3, is the main transcription factor in osteogenic differentiation. It is implicated either in endochondral or intramembranous bone formation. Runx2 regulates other proteins in the extracellular matrix, which include type I collagen, osteopontin (OPN), bone sialoprotein (BSP), fibronectin, and ALP (Kozhevnikova et al. 2008). A mutated *RUNX2* in mice was established to define the function of this gene. The ossification of skeletal system was absent in homozygous mutated mice. Alkaline phosphatase was poorly expressed but OPN and osteocalcin (OCN) genes were not detected in immature osteoblasts. No mesenchymal cells and vascular were discovered in the cartilage, but a few immature osteoclast emerged at the pericondrium (Komori et al. 1997). RUNX2-knocked out mice showed severe skeleton malformations in the bone development stage. The osteoblasts and bone were not present in homozygous mutant skeletons, whereas heterozygous mice had specific abnormalities in skeleton known as cleidocranial dysplasia (CCD) (Otto et al. 1997). Osx, a zinc finger-containing transcription factor, has been investigated regarding its role in differentiation of preosteoblastic cells to become mature osteoblasts (Lee et al. 2003; Park and Kim 2013). The OSX gene is found downstream of the RUNX2 gene and is therefore not expressed in RUNX2 null mice. However, RUNX2 expression is observed with no strikingly changed phenotype in OSX-knockout mice. When OSX was inactivated in E17.5 mice embryos, the newborn homozygous mutants were found died immediately caused by inability of breathing resulting from severe inward bending of limbs. The cartilage skeleton was completely formed but had a delayed mineralization in skull

bones. Osteoblast differentiation markers including BSP, osteonectin and OPN were not observed in the condensed mesenchyme (Nakashima et al. 2002).

During tooth development, both of Runx2 and Osx are important in odontogenesis at different stages of development. Runx2 plays an important role to regulate other related genes required in osteoblast and odontoblast differentiation. Runx2 was early detected in dental mesenchyme, which its expression increased during matrix formation in dental papilla, dental follicle, and alveolar bone at the cap stage. The Runx2 expression was decreased at the later stage in the differentiated odontoblast, ameloblasts and dental pulp cells (Chen et al. 2009). The abnormal phenotypes of RUNX2^{-/-} mice tooth were prominently observed. The smaller molars with poorly differentiated enamel organ and the hypoplastic incisors were confirmed at E16.5 mice (D'Souza et al. 1999). Similar to Runx2, Osx was strongly expressed during bone and teeth formation in the mesenchymal, yet its expression was comparatively lower than those of Runx2 at E12 mice. Until the bell stage (E16), RUNX2 and OSX mRNA expressions were observed in osteogenic mesenchyme, ameloblasts, odontoblasts, and dental pulp cells. Nevertheless, the expression of OSX gene was intensely detectable in odontoblasts and dental pulp cells compared to RUNX2 at the advanced stage, from E18 to PN14 (Chen et al. 2009).

The last stage of osteogenic differentiation is matrix maturation, which occurs approximately after 15 days, lasting around 14 days. The markers for this late stage are OCN and OPN, followed by mineral deposition that represent various processes of bone formation in vivo (Huang et al. 2007). Calcium and phosphate formations can be detected in this stage (Hoemann et al. 2009).

2.4 Wnt signaling in osteogenesis

The Wnt signaling pathway has been known to regulate many biological developmental processes, not only during embryonic development but also in adult tissue homeostasis. The role of Wnt signaling in bone formation has become great concern in the last few decades (Kim et al. 2013). A report showed that β -catenin, the key regulator protein of the canonical Wnt pathway, is indispensable to control cell differentiation in 3T3-L1 mouse fibroblast cell line. The suppressed adipogenesis by WNT10B, WNT10A, WNT6 and WNT3A was thoroughly inhibited when β -catenin was eliminated. Moreover, exogenous Wnt-induced osteoblastogenesis was repressed in the lack of β -catenin indicating the vital function of β -catenin to regulate mesenchymal stem cell fate (Cawthorn et al. 2012).

To initiate signaling activation, Wnt molecules that serve as a ligand has to bind to a complex receptor on cell surface to transmit signal transduction. The Frizzled family receptors and co-receptors lipoprotein receptor–related protein (LRP)-5/6 are the main receptors in Wnt signaling. Binding of Wnt ligands to its receptors subsequently triggers two major distinct intracellular cascades; the canonical Wnt/ β catenin pathway and the noncanonical Wnt pathway consists of the Wnt/Ca²⁺ (calcium-dependent) and the Wnt/PCP (planar cell polarity) pathways (Liu et al. 2009; Rao and Kuhl 2010; Kim et al. 2013). These intracellular responses are stimulated by different Wnt proteins, e.g. WNT1, WNT3A, and WNT8 through the canonical pathway while WNT5A and WNT11 for the noncanonical pathway (Kim et al. 2013).

In the canonical pathway, β -catenin is the key protein take part in intracellular signal activation. In the presence of Wnt ligands, the Dishevelled (Dvl) protein is

recruited and phosphorylated to the receptor complex that can inhibit glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β) protein to phosphorylate cytoplasmic β -catenin. The accumulation of stabilized β -catenin in the cytoplasm subsequently translocates into the nucleus, establishing an assembly of protein complex with T-cell factor (TCF)/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (LEF) to activate the transcription of target genes e.g *CYCLIN D1*, *AXIN2*, *C-MYC* and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (*PPAR* δ) (Valenta et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2013). Wnt signaling can be blocked by extracellular antagonists of Wnt such as secreted frizzled-related proteins (sFRPs), Dickkopf1 (DKK1) or WIF1. sFRPs and WIF1 block the Wnt signaling by binding to the URP-5/6 receptors (Issack et al. 2008). When the Wnt ligand is absent, Dvl protein is dissociated from the receptor so that β -catenin becomes phosphorylated mediated by a protein destruction complex comprised of GSK3 β , AXIN and (Adenomatous polyposis coli) APC. This action leads to marking β -catenin for ubiquitination and protein degradation (Figure 2.2) (Kim et al. 2013).

Chulalongkorn University



Figure 2.2 The Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway action. The binding of Wnt ligand to the receptors on cell surface leads to the recruitment of Dvl to the receptor complex that prevents GSK3 β along with AXIN and APC protein to phosphorylate β -catenin. This action results in the accumulation of cytosolic β -catenin thus subsequently translocate into the nucleus. When exogenous inhibitors of Wnt such as DKK1, WIF1, or sFRP exist, Wnt signal is blocked resulting in the dissociation of Dvl protein from the receptors. The destructive protein complex phosphorylates β -catenin to later undergoing degradation. (Adapted and modified from Sinha S, 2016)

In the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, the signal starts with the binding of Wnt ligands to the Frizzled receptors thus switching on the intracellular cascade. Induction of this pathway brings the calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum which activates downstream mediators such as protein kinase C, calcineurin and calcium calmodulindependent protein kinase II leading to the activation of transcription factors NF- κ B, NFATc and cAMP response element binding protein. In contrast, the Wnt/PCP pathway involves GTPases and Frizzled receptors interaction to activate c-jun NH2 kinase (Kim et al. 2013).

Disrupting of Wnt components affected bone formation. Mutation of *Lrp-5* diminished bone thickness in mouse calvarial explant cultures (Gong et al. 2001). Similarly, overexpressed *DKK1* resulted in reduction of mineralized matrix in osteoblasts (Li et al. 2006). Heterozygous *Dkk1*-deficient mice showed an enhanced osteoblast differentiation thus increased bone formation but had no effect on bone resorption (Morvan et al. 2006). In contrast, *Dkk17* mice displayed an anterior head defect and forelimb malformation (Mukhopadhyay et al. 2001). Bone mineral density and trabecular bone were attenuated in *Wnt3a7* mice (Takada et al. 2007). Correspondingly, Qiu et al. reported that WNT3A could promote osteoblast differentiation via Wnt/JNK pathway in human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (Qiu et al. 2011).

Several studies have been demonstrated the role of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in tooth development. The diminished Wnt signaling has a significant impact in cementum formation. Irregular root surface and a large crater-like structure particularly at the cementoenamel junction were noticeable by 3-dimensional reconstruction of tissue sections. The eroded cementum was also present with penetrated dentin on the root surfaces (Lim et al. 2014). Investigation by Lu et al. showed that WNT3A, WNT10B, and β -catenin had higher expression on the tension side than on the compression side during orthodontic tooth movement in rat model, whereas DKK1 showed reversely. In addition, the increased expression of WNT3A, WNT10B, β -catenin and DKK1 was observed on the loaded teeth compared with the unloaded teeth. These evidences suggest that the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling may be related to tissue remodeling in tooth movement stimulated by mechanical force from orthodontic appliances (Lu et al. 2016).

2.5 The role of DSPP and DMP1 in bone and tooth

DSPP and DMP1 belong to the small integrin-biding ligand N-linked glycoproteins (SIBLINGs) family with the other three members are BSP, OPN and matrix extracellular glycophosphoprotein (MEPE). Among the five family members, DSPP and DMP1 have a number of similarities in genomic organization or protein structure. Both DSPP and DMP1 have critical functions during hard tissue development such as dentin and bone (Suzuki et al. 2012). Initially known as a dentin-specific gene, DSPP has been recently found to express in bone, cementum and other non-mineralized tissues. Deletion of *DSPP* gene resulted in defect of the dentin that similar to dentinogenesis imperfect-III phenotype, characterized by large pulp chambers, wide predentin zone and hypomineralization that may cause the exposed pulp (Verdelis et al. 2008). DSPP is also important to maintain periodontal tissue homeostasis. The massive destructions of cementum and alveolar bone were observed in the furcation and interproximal area of the molars in *Dspp* null mice (Gibson et al. 2013). DSPP was detected in osteoblasts of rat long bone (Qin et al. 2003)

Firstly identified in odontoblast, DMP1 has been found to have high expression in other cells such as preosteoblasts, osteocytes, and chondrocytes. DMP1 particularly takes part in the early and late stages of odontogenesis. Tooth phenotype from $Dmp1^{-/-}$ mice resembles to the one from $Dspp^{-/-}$ mice. Dmp1 knockout mice

showed low mineral-matrix ratio of the bone indicating the role of DMP1 to promote bone mineralization. In addition, the reduced calcium phosphate concentration was spotted in the lack of DMP1 suggesting the involvement of DMP1 in metabolism of calcium and phosphate (Ling et al. 2005). Severe defects in cartilage formation developed in *Dmp1* null mice during chondrogenesis (Ye et al. 2005). Interestingly, overexpressed DMP1 in transgenic mice could rescue the bone phenotypes of Dmp1^{-/-} mice (Lu et al. 2009).



จุฬาลงกรณิมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER III

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Ethical considerations

Healthy third molars extracted from patients undergoing dental surgery were selected in this study. All procedural protocols were notified to the patients in advance, after which informed consent was acquired. The procedures were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC-DCU 2016-011) from Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.

3.2 Samples

Periodontal ligament tissue from the middle third of the root of third molars was scraped and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium [(DMEM), Gibco, Carlsbad CA, USA] containing 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco, USA), 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany), 100 units/ml penicillin (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany), 100 mg/ml streptomycin (Thermofisher, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and 5 mg/ml amphotericin B to allow cells to be released from the tissue. Thereafter, cells were cultured in the same medium, which were changed every 48 h. Cells were subcultured at a 1:3 ratio after cell confluent around 80%. Cell passages 3 to 6 were selected in this experiment.

3.3 Asiaticoside preparation

Asiaticoside was purchased from Sigma (#43191 Sigma-Aldrich). The purified compound was in powder form and dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide [(DMSO); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany].

3.4 Cell viability assay

To demonstrate cell viability, MTT (USB Corporation, Cleveland, OH, USA) assay was performed. hPDL cells were seeded with a density of 6 x 10^4 cells/well in a 24-well plate and incubated at 37° C overnight. The medium was changed into serum free medium containing asiaticoside at concentration 10, 25, 50, and 100 μ M. Cells treated with vehicle (DMSO) only was considered as control. MTT powder was dissolved in DMEM without phenol red in a concentration 0.5 mg/ml until become yellowish. After 1, 2 and 3 day treatment, the medium was removed and substituted with MTT solution to incubate for about 30 min at 37° C. As the formazan crystal was formed, the MTT solution was eluted by a solution composing of DMSO and glycine buffer to dissolve the crystal so the color changed into purple. The optical density was then measured at absorbance 570 nm in a microplate reader (Elx800; Biotech, Winooski, VT, USA). The viable cell numbers were calculated as relative to control group.

3.5 RNA extraction

Cells at a density of 2 x 10^5 cells/well were seeded in a 12-well plate and treated with asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M) in growth medium for 1 and 3 days. To extract the total cellular RNA, Trizol reagent (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN,

USA) was used to lyse the cells. After adding 1 ml of Trizol, the cells were scraped and mixed by using the pipette tip. The lysed cells were then incubated at 25° C for 5 min and mixed with 200 μ l chloroform. The mixture was shaken vigorously for 15 s and incubated for 2-3 min at room temperature. The samples were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 15 min at 4° C. Three layers in solution were formed and the aqueous phase was transferred into a new 1.5 ml tube. Isopropyl alcohol (500 μ l) was added, then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 15 min during which a pellet was formed at the bottom of the tube. The supernatant was removed gently from the tubes to avoid pellet disruption, and replaced by 1 ml of 75% ethanol. The samples were centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 5 min at 4° C. The RNA pellet formed was dissolved in RNAse-free water and the concentration of RNA was quantified by Spectrophotometer [(NanoDrop2000), Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA].

3.6 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

A total of 1 µg of RNA samples was converted to cDNA by Improm II reverse transcriptase system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) for 1 h 30 min at 42° C followed by incubating at 99° C for 2 min. To perform real-time quantitative PCR, SYBR green detection system (Fast Start Essential DNA Green Master; Roche Diagnostic, USA) on Mini Opticon real time PCR system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) was used to detect the target genes (primer sequences shown in Table 1) from the amplified cDNA. The expression of each gene was normalized to GAPDH expression.

Primers	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Accession No.
AXIN2	Forward – GAG TGG ACT TGT GCC ACT TCA	NM_001289746.1
	Reverse - GTT GGC TGG TGC AAA GAC ATA G	
DSPP	Forward - ATA TTG AGG GCT GGA ATG GGG A	NM_004655.3
	Reverse - TTT GTG GCT CCA GCA TTG TCA	
DKK1	Forward - GCC TCA GGA TTG TGT TGT GC	NM_012242.2
	Reverse - ATC CGG CAA GAC AGA CCT TC	
DMP1	Forward - ATG CCT ATC ACA ACA AAC C	NM_004407.3
	Reverse - CTC CTT TAT GTG ACA ACT GC	
GAPDH	Forward - CAC TGC CAA CGT GTC AGT GGT G	NM_014208.3
	Reverse - GTA GCC CAG GAT GCC CTT GAG	
OSX	Forward – GCC AGA AGC TGT GAA ACC TC	NM_001278478.1
	Reverse – GCT GCA AGC TCT CCA TAA CC	
RUNX2	Forward – CAG ACC AGC AGC ACT CCA TA	NM001300837.1
	Reverse – CAG CGT CAA CAC CAT CAT TC	
WNT3A	Forward - CTG TTG GGC CAC AGT ATT CC	NM_033131.3
	Reverse - GGG CAT GAT CTC CAC GTA GT	
WNT5A	Forward - TCA GGC ACC ATT AAA CCA CA	NM_003392.4
	Reverse - AAT TCA CAG AGG TGT TGC AGC	
WNT10B	Forward – TTG TGC AGT CGG GCT CTA AG	NM_003394.3
	Reverse – GAT GTG CAG ACC CTG AAG CG	

Table 1. PCR primer sequences of quantitative real-time PCR
3.7 Alkaline Phosphatase Assay

hPDL cells were cultured in 24-well plates at a density of 6 x 10^4 cells/well. After reaching confluence, the cells were cultured in osteogenic medium (OM) containing 50 µg/ml ascorbic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 5 mM βglycerophosphate (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in the presence of asiaticoside (10 and 100 µM). The medium was changed every 2 days. The ALP enzymatic activity was measures at 10 day. The cells were lysed in alkaline lysis buffer and then incubated in the substrate mixture of 2 mg/ml of p-nitrophenol phosphate [(PNPP), Invitrogen, USA], 0.1 M of 2-amino-2-methyl-1-propanol (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), and 2 mM of MgCl₂ at 37° C for 30 min. To stop the reaction, 50 mM of NaOH was added and the optical density was measured using a microplate reader at an absorbance of 410 nm. BCA assay (Thermo Scientific) was utilized to define total cellular protein and used to normalize the enzymatic activity.

3.8 Matrix mineralization assay

Mineralized nodules were detected by using Alizarin red staining. Cells were seeded at a density 6 x 10^4 cell/well in 24-well plate. The medium was changed into OM containing asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M). After 14 day, cells were washed with PBS and fixed in cold methanol for 10 min. The cells then were washed with deionized water twice, and stained with 1% Alizarin Res S solution (Sigma Aldrich, USA) at room temperature for 5 min. The dye was completely removed, washed with deionized water and dried by air.

3.9 Immunofluorescence

hPDL cells grown on coverslips (5 x 10^4 cell/well) in 24-well plate were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized in 0.1% Triton x100 for 10 min each. The cells were blocked with 3% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in PBS for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibody of rabbit anti β-catenin 1:250 (#9582 Cell signaling, Danvers, MA, USA), mouse anti DSPP 1:100 (sc-73632 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, Texas, USA) and goat anti DMP1 1:100 (ab81985 Abcam, Cambridge, UK) was diluted in 1% BSA in PBS and incubated overnight at 4° C. The cells were subsequently incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody of goat anti-rabbit (AP132B Millipore, Temecula, CA, USA), goat anti-mouse (B2763 Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and rabbit anti-goat (B7014 Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 1 hour at room temperature. Streptavidin-FITC (S3762 Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was used to detect secondary antibody. The cells were washed with PBS 3 times for 5 minutes each after every step of incubation. Mounting medium fortified with DAPI (Vectashield, Burlingame, CA, USA) were applied to preserve fluorescence of cells. Images were analyzed by a fluorescent microscope (Axiovert 40CFL, Carl Zeiss, Gottingen, Germany).

3.10 Protein isolation and Western blot

Cells seeded in 100 mm culture dish were extracted to isolate cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins. Nuclear extraction was prepared as previously described (Sumrejkanchanakij et al. 2003) using extraction buffer A (10mM HEPES, 2.5mM MgCl₂, 10mM KCL, 0.5 mM DTT) and buffer C (20mM HEPES, 25% (v/v) glycerol, 0.42M NaCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.2mM EDTA). Briefly, the cells were detached from

the culture dish, transferred to 1.5ml tube, and centrifuged at 14,000rpm. Pellet was formed and buffer A was added to dissolve the pellet. After centrifugating, the first supernatant was collected (cytoplasmic protein), thus pellet formed was dissolved in buffer C and incubated for 2 hour followed by centrifugation. The second supernatant was subsequently collected (nuclear protein).

The whole cell lysate were extracted by using radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (150mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% DOC, 0.1% SDS, 50mM Tris) containing a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Protein concentration was determined by BCA protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) at 595 nm absorbance. A total of 30 μ g protein extracts in each sample was separated by 7.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and blotted on PVDF membranes (Immobilon-P, Millipore, USA). The membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in 0.1% PBS/Tween20 for 1 hour at room temperature. The blots were incubated with primary antibodies, mouse anti β-catenin 1:1000 (#05-613 Cell signaling, USA), mouse anti DSPP 1:500, goat anti DMP1 1:500 and mouse anti Actin 1:2000 (MAB1501 Millipore, USA) overnight at 4° C and then with biotinylated-conjugated secondary antibody of goat anti-mouse (B2763 Life technologies, USA) and rabbit anti-goat (B7014 Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was then incubated with horseradish Streptavidin-HRP (#3999 Cell signaling, USA). The signal was detected by an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (Pierce, Thermofisher, USA).

3.11 Statistical analysis

The data were reported as mean \pm SD relative to the control from three independent experiments. Data were statistically analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey posthoc test to compare the difference between groups. A significant difference was considered as *p*<0.05.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER IV

RESULT

4.1 Objective 1: To demonstrate the effect of asiaticoside on hPDL cell viability4.1.1 Effect of asiaticoside on viability of hPDL cells

hPDL cells treated with asiaticoside for 1, 2 and 3 day were tested by MTT assay to show the effect of asiaticoside on cell viability. Asiaticoside did not cause cell death or cell proliferation at any tested concentration. In addition, there was no difference in cell number at all time points (Figure 4.1). Next, asiaticoside 10 and 100 μ M were selected for further experiments.





DMSO was considered as control. The data were presented as percentage of cell number and relative to control. Mean values \pm SD are presented.

4.2 Objective 2: To investigate the effects of asiaticoside in osteogenic differentiation by hPDL cells

4.2.1 Asiaticoside induces osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells

To investigate the effect of asiaticoside in osteogenic differentiation, hPDL cells were cultured in osteogenic medium in the presence or absence of asiaticoside. Asiaticoside at concentration 100 μ M but not 10 μ M, significantly upregulated *OSX* mRNA expression at day 1 and 3, althought the expression level at day 3 was lower than at day 1. Surprisingly, the mRNA expression of *RUNX2* was unchanged (Figure 4.2A).

ALP enzymatic activity was also significantly induced by asiaticoside 100μ M after 10 day cultured in OM, but remained unchanged at asiaticoside 10μ M (Figure 4.2B). Correspondingly, mineralized nodules formation was more highly detected in asiaticoside-stimulated cells at concentration 100μ M rather than 10μ M at 14 day (Figure 4.2C). These evidences indicate that asiaticoside can promote osteogenic differentiation.



Figure 4.2 Asiaticoside (AC) stimulates osteogenic differentiation on hPDL cells. Cells were treated with asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M) in growth medium for 1 and 3 day. The expression of osteoblastic gene markers was performed by real time PCR. The gene expression was normalized to *GAPDH* (A). To investigate in vitro mineralization, cells were cultured in OM in the presence of asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M). ALP enzymatic activity was detected by ALP assay at 10 day (B). Mineralized nodules formation on hPDL cells was detected at 14 day by alizarin red staining (C). Mean values \pm SD are presented with **p*<0.05 indicating a significant difference compared with control.

4.3 Objective 3: To show the involvement of Wnt associated genes and the activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in asiaticoside stimulated cells 4.3.1 The effect of asiaticoside on mRNA expression of Wnt-associated genes

To elucidate which molecular mechanism might be involved asiaticoside induced cell differentiation. Asiaticoside significantly upregulated *WNT3A* gene expression dose dependently at indicated time points, but not *WNT5A* and *WNT10B*. The Wnt inhibitor, *DKK1* was not affected by asiaticoside stimulation, but *AXIN2*, a negative regulator of Wnt, was significantly reduced at 3 day (Figure 4.3). The upregulation of *WNT3A* indicates that asiaticoside may propagate the signal through the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling and specifically target *WNT3A*, not *WNT10B*.

Chulalongkorn University



Figure 4.3 Effect of asiaticoside (AC) on the expression of Wnt-related genes. mRNA expression *WNT3A*, *WNT5A*, and *WNT10B* at 1 day (A), *DKK1* and *AXIN2* at 3 day (B) were measured by real time PCR in the presence or absence of asiaticoside (10 and 100 μ M). *GAPDH* was used as housekeeping gene. Mean values \pm SD are presented with **p*<0.05 indicating a significant difference compared with control.

4.3.2 Asiaticoside-stimulated hPDL cells leads to the Wnt signaling activation

 β -catenin is a direct target of the canonical Wnt pathway (Kim et al. 2013), therefore the activation of Wnt signaling was assessed by the translocation of β catenin into the nucleus induced by asiaticoside. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry showed that β -catenin homogenously stained in the cell of control, while it predominantly localized to the nucleus in asiaticoside-treated cells (Figure 3B). The lithium chloride (LiCl), an activator of canonical Wnt signaling, was included as the positive control of β -catenin nuclear accumulation (Figure 4.4A). Correspondingly, western blotting analysis of nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts revealed the increase of β-catenin in the nuclear fraction in asiaticoside-treated cells compared to the control. The significant increase in nuclear-to-cytoplasmic (N/C) ratio of β -catenin was also shown (Figure 4.4B). To assess whether the gene expression of β -CATENIN was affected by asiaticoside, we performed a qualitative PCR analysis and found the expression was not difference with control (Figure 4.4C). Consistent with mRNA expression, the total protein of β -catenin in a whole cell lysate was not changed (Figure 4.4D). These results indicate that asiaticoside activates Wnt/β-catenin signaling through the translocation of cytoplasmic β -catenins into the nucleus.



Figure 4.4 Asiaticoside-stimulated hPDL cells leads to the Wnt signaling activation. Nuclear β -catenins were detected by immunofluorescence staining after 1 day asiaticoside (100 μ M) stimulation. DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. LiCl as positive control. Scale bar in micrographs represents 20 μ m (A). Level of β -catenin from cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction were also confirmed by western blot to identify β -catenin localization in the nucleus after cells treated with asiaticoside 100 μ M for 2 day. Actin was used as internal control. β -catenin nuclear/cytoplasmic (N/C) ratio was quantitatively assessed by measuring band density and the expression was normalized to actin (B). mRNA expression of β -CATENIN was shown by real time PCR (C).

Cells treated with asiaticoside for 2 day were subsequently extracted to examine the total protein of β -catenin by western blot. The quantitative data of protein expression is presented (D). Mean values \pm SD are presented **p*<0.05 indicating a significant difference compared with control.

4.3.3 Asiaticoside upregulates downstream targets of Wnt/β-catenin signaling

As previously shown (Han N. et al. 2014), *DSPP* and *DMP1* are the target genes of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in odontoblastic differentiation. To examine whether *DSPP* and *DMP1* are targeted by asiaticoside, the expression of these genes were measured by real time PCR and the protein level was detected by western blot analysis. Asiaticoside significantly increased both *DSPP* and *DMP1* mRNA expression dose dependently at 1 day. At 3 day, the highest expression was significantly seen at asiaticoside 10 μ M, whereas the expression level started to decrease at concentration 100 μ M (Figure 4.5A). The level of DSPP and DMP1 protein was correspondingly raised at any tested concentration of asiaticoside at 2 day (Figure 4.5B).

Chulalongkorn University



Figure 4.5 The expression of *DSPP* and *DMP1* gene by asiaticoside. Cells treated with asiaticoside (AC) in growth medium for 1 and 3 day were subsequently analyzed the level of mRNA expression by real time PCR. Relative mRNA expression of *DSPP* and *DMP1* was normalized to *GAPDH* (A) and the protein expression by western blot at 2 day. Actin was used as internal control (B). Mean values \pm SD are presented *p < 0.05 indicating a significant difference compared with control.

4.4 Objective 4: To show the inhibiton of the targets of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway by DKK1 in asiaticoside-treated hPDL cells

4.4.1 rh-DKK1 inhibited asiaticoside-stimulated β -catenin nuclear translocation

The Wnt signal transduction was blocked by adding recombinant human DKK1 1 hour before treating the cells with asiaticoside. Localized β -catenin in the nucleus was observed in asiaticoside group. Otherwise, DKK1 efficiently repressed asiaticoside-induced β -catenin translocation to nucleus (Figure 4.6).



HULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT

Figure 4.6 DKK1 attenuated nuclear β -catenin in hPDL cells. Immunofluorescence staining showed β -catenin expression after 1 day asiaticoside (AC) 100 μ M with or without rh-DKK1 100ng/ml. DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. LiCl as positive control. Scale bar in micrographs represents 20 μ m.

4.4.2 rh-DKK1 attenuated asiaticoside-induced expression of osteoblastic gene markers

The results showed that *OSX*, *DSPP* and *DMP1* mRNA expression were significantly increased following asiaticoside treatment. DKK1 significantly diminished the expression of *OSX*, *DSPP* and *DMP1* compared with asiaticoside group (Figure 4.7A). Moreover, the increased protein level of DSPP and DMP1 after asiaticoside stimulation was decreased by DKK1 (Figure 4.7B). These data indicated that the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is involved in differentiation of hPDL cells stimulated by asiaticoside.



จุฬาลงกรณิมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 4.7 DKK1 attenuated the expression of osteogenic gene marker in asiaticoside-treated cells. After 1 day cultured in the presence or absence of asiaticoside (AC) 100 μ M or rh-DKK1 100ng/ml, the mRNA expression of *OSX*, *DMP1* and *DSPP* were performed by real time PCR (B). DSPP and DMP1 protein expression were detected by using immunofluorescence. Nucleus was stained with DAPI and merge image was also shown. Scale bar in micrographs represent 20 μ m

(C). Mean values \pm SD are presented *p < 0.05 indicating a significant difference compared with control; **p < 0.05 compared with asiaticoside group



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Our results are consistent with the previous study that demonstrated the effect of asiaticoside to promote osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells (Nowwarote et al. 2013). Asiaticoside belongs to the triterpenoid saponin with pentacyclic terpene skeleton (aglycone) and glycoside side chain (James and Dubery 2009). Triterpenoid saponin is known as an amphiphilic agent with the hydrophilic sugar chains and the hydrophobic triterpene backbone. Due to these properties, saponin can interact with cholesterol in the cell membrane that forms insoluble complexes (Moses et al. 2014) creating aqueous pores thus increasing cell permeability. The increase of membrane permeability enables ions and other molecules such as proteins entering the cell (Augustin et al. 2011). Permeabilization may possibly allow Ca^{2+} influx into the cells or Ca²⁺ release from endoplasmic reticulum (Lukyanenko and Gyorke 1999) to activate the Ca²⁺ signaling through protein kinase C, calcineurin and calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II that subsequently activate transcription of NFκB, NFATc and cAMP response element binding protein (Kim et al. 2013). The similarity of saponin aglycones and steroids structure also suggests another fascinating mode of saponin action by potentially binding to receptors of glucocorticoids (Augustin et al. 2011). Hence, it is hypothesized that asiaticoside exerts its activity by penetrating cell membrane and is possibly recognized by intracellular glucocorticoid receptors. However, it remains unclear of how asiaticoside

directly acts and influences the cell. Therefore, further study is required to prove this mechanism.

Asiaticoside has been extensively known as a wound healing agent. It was found to inhibit the hypertrophic scars and keloid formation via TGF- β /Smad pathway (Tang et al. 2011). The protective effect of asiaticoside against cognitive dysfunctions associated with diabetes has been revealed through PI3K/Akt/NF-KB pathway (Yin et al. 2015). However, the molecular mechanism involved in asiaticoside-induced osteogenesis remains unclear. It is indisputable that Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway regulates bone remodeling and the activation of Wnt leads to osteoblast differentiation (Kramer et al. 2010; Cawthorn et al. 2012). Wnt signaling particularly has a pivotal role to maintain periodontium homeostasis and regeneration. Periodontal ligament is a Wnt-responsive tissue and PDL derived cells are responsive to endogenous Wnt. When Wnt signaling was blocked, the thickness of alveolar bone was decreased and periodontal ligament space became wider (Lim et al. 2014). Downregulation of Wnt signaling leads to cementum devastation and root resorption (Lim et al. 2014). Ectopic Wnt enhanced ossification and osteogenic markers including Osx and osteoclacin, but not Runx2 (Day et al. 2005). Interestingly, stimulating PDL tissue with the Wnt signaling inducers caused new cementum and PDL fibers formation in rat periodontal defect model (Han et al. 2015).

The present study showed asiaticoside typically induced *WNT3A* gene expression, not the other Wnt ligands. Juan Lu et al. also demonstrated that WNT3A was more highly expressed on the tension side in the PDL tissue of tooth receiving orthodontic force (Lu et al. 2016). It was also shown that WNT3A could partially rescue *Porphyromonas gingivalis* LPS-reduced osteogenic activity of rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells (Tang et al. 2014). Investigation by Nemoto et al. demonstrated that WNT3A induced ALP expression which was mediated by *OSX* gene in dental follicle cells and the inhibition by DKK1 diminished its expression (Nemoto et al. 2016). In addition, WNT3A was recently reported to be involved in the promotion of mineralization by dental follicle cells when co-culture with Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells in the presence of decalcified dentin (Yang et al. 2014). These evidences indicate the importance of WNT3A in osteoblast differentiation. Although, some reports stated the involvement of WNT5A (Wang et al. 2014; Baschant et al. 2016) and WNT10B (Lu et al. 2016) in osteogenesis or tooth development, but WNT3A may be specifically targeted by asiaticoside action.

Other studies have been reported that inhibition of Wnt signaling could promote osteoblast differentiation in PDL cells from periodontitis patients (Liu et al. 2011; Liu et al. 2015), which is contrary to this study. The possible reason to elucidate this circumstances is the distinct condition of cells used in the study. The isolated PDL cells in this study obtained from healthy patient, whereas their studies collected the samples from inflamed periodontal tissue. The microenvironment alteration definitely leads to the change of cell response and behavior.

DSSP expression was increased by WNT3A-activated canonical Wnt signaling in dental pulp cells (DPCs) (Rahman et al. 2012). In the absence of β -catenin, DSPP and DMP1 expression were diminished in DPCs (Han N. et al. 2014) indicating these two genes are the target of β -catenin signaling. This indicates that the involvement of Wnt signaling is inevitable to promote DSPP and DMP1 expression. In the present study, asiaticoside-induced Wnt signaling activation confirmed by β -catenin translocation to the nucleus was suppressed by DKK1. The activated Wnt pathway resulted in the increased *DSPP* and *DMP1* expression. Similar to β -catenin, both the expression of DSPP and DMP1 were attenuated in the presence of DKK1. These results demonstrated that DSPP and DMP1 are the downstream targets of asiaticoside-activated the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway.

DSPP and DMP1 are the extracellular matrix proteins that act as positive regulators in hard tissue mineralization. Mutated *DSPP* and *DMP1* gene give the impacts on dentin or bone phenotype (Suzuki et al. 2012). *DMP1* knockout mice caused the reduction of mineralized bone in mice with low mineral content and the increase of crystal size (Ling et al. 2005). The defect of dentin phenotype in *DMP1*^{7/} and *DSPP*^{7/} mice was observed with widened predentin and hypomineralized dentin (Sreenath et al. 2003; Ye et al. 2004). Those data proved that both DSPP and DMP1 are required for hard tissue development and maturation. Our study also showed the induction of *DSPP* and *DMP1* gene at 1 day, which was decreased at 3 day. Similarly, *OSX* was shown the higher mRNA expression at 1 day than at 3 day. It seems these osteogenic markers have stronger expression of those genes suggests that asiaticoside has the ability to potentially promote mineralized tissue formation in hPDL cells.

We propose a schematic model of the activation of Wnt signaling by asiaticoside is possibly mediated by WNT3A through the canonical β -catenin pathway. Activation of the canonical Wnt results in the accumulation of cytoplasmic β -catenin and the subsequent translocation to the nucleus to activate the transcription of *OSX*, *DSPP* and *DMP1* gene. Induction of these genes promotes hPDL cells to differentiate into osteoblast lineage cells (Figure 5.1).

In conclusion, we demonstrated that asiaticoside could induce osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells by activating Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. By understanding the molecular mechanism of asiaticoside induced osteogenic differentiation in hPDL cells through the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, asiaticoside can be a novel therapeutic agent to induce tissue or bone regeneration by mesenchymal cells in inflammatory condition. However, further study is required to precisely identify how asiaticoside directly interacts with PDL cells and exerts its biological function. Furthermore, it is necessary to possibly modify the structure of asiaticoside to improve the outcome for clinical treatment by increasing its efficacy and efficiency.





Figure 5.1 Schematic model of the proposed mechanism of asiaticoside inducing

osteogenic differentiation by hPDL cells.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

- Alfarra HY, Omar MN. 2013. Centella asiatica: from folk remedy to the medicinal biotechnology a state revision. International Journal of Biosciences. **3**(6): 49-67.
- Alvarez R, Lee H-L, Wang C-Y, Hong C. 2015. Characterization of the osteogenic potential of mesenchymal stem cells from human periodontal ligament based on cell surface markers. Int J Oral Sci. 1-7.
- Augustin JM, Kuzina V, Andersen SB, Bak S. 2011. Molecular activities, biosynthesis and evolution of triterpenoid saponins. Phytochemistry. 72(6): 435-457.
- Baschant U, Rauner M, Balaian E, Weidner H, Roetto A, Platzbecker U, Hofbauer LC. 2016. Wnt5a is a key target for the pro-osteogenic effects of iron chelation on osteoblast progenitors. Haematologica. 101(12): 1499-1507.
- Bian D, Liu M, Li Y, Xia Y, Gong Z, Dai Y. 2012. Madecassoside, a triterpenoid saponin isolated from Centella asiatica herbs, protects endothelial cells against oxidative stress. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 26(10): 399-406.
- Bonte F, Dumas M, Chaudagne C, Meybeck A. 1994. Influence of asiatic acid, madecassic acid, and asiaticoside on human collagen I synthesis. Planta Med. 60(2): 133-135.
- Bueno C, Ramirez C, Rodriguez-Lozano FJ, Tabares-Seisdedos R, Rodenas M, Moraleda JM, Jones JR, Martinez S. 2013. Human adult periodontal ligamentderived cells integrate and differentiate after implantation into the adult mammalian brain. Cell Transplant. 22(11): 2017-2028.
- Bylka W, Znajdek-Awizen P, Studzinska-Sroka E, Danczak-Pazdrowska A, Brzezinska M. 2014. Centella asiatica in dermatology: an overview. Phytother Res. 28(8): 1117-1124.
- Cawthorn WP, Bree AJ, Yao Y, Du B, Hemati N, Martinez-Santibanez G, MacDougald OA. 2012. Wnt6, Wnt10a and Wnt10b inhibit adipogenesis and

stimulate osteoblastogenesis through a beta-catenin-dependent mechanism. Bone. **50**(2): 477-489.

- Chen S, Gluhak-Heinrich J, Wang YH, Wu YM, Chuang HH, Chen L, Yuan GH, Dong J, Gay I, MacDougall M. 2009. Runx2, osx, and dspp in tooth development. J Dent Res. 88(10): 904-909.
- Choi MH, Noh WC, Park JW, Lee JM, Suh JY. 2011. Gene expression pattern during osteogenic differentiation of human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. J Periodontal Implant Sci. 41(4): 167-175.
- Choi S, Cho TJ, Kwon SK, Lee G, Cho J. 2013. Chondrogenesis of periodontal ligament stem cells by transforming growth factor-beta3 and bone morphogenetic protein-6 in a normal healthy impacted third molar. Int J Oral Sci. **5**(1): 7-13.
- D'Souza RN, Aberg T, Gaikwad J, Cavender A, Owen M, Karsenty G, Thesleff I. 1999. Cbfa1 is required for epithelial-mesenchymal interactions regulating tooth development in mice. Development. **126**(13): 2911-2920.
- Day TF, Guo X, Garrett-Beal L, Yang Y. 2005. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in mesenchymal progenitors controls osteoblast and chondrocyte differentiation during vertebrate skeletogenesis. Dev Cell. 8(5): 739-750.
- Dubery JJI. 2011. Identification and Quantification of Triterpenoid Centelloids in Centella asiatica (L.) Urban by Densitometric TLC. Journal of Planar Chromatography. 24: 82–87.
- Felber K, Elks PM, Lecca M, Roehl HH. 2015. Expression of osterix Is Regulated by FGF and Wnt/beta-Catenin Signalling during Osteoblast Differentiation. PLoS One. 10(12): e0144982.
- Gibson MP, Zhu Q, Liu Q, D'Souza RN, Feng JQ, Qin C. 2013. Loss of dentin sialophosphoprotein leads to periodontal diseases in mice. J Periodontal Res.
 48(2): 221-227.

- Glass DA, 2nd, Bialek P, Ahn JD, Starbuck M, Patel MS, Clevers H, Taketo MM, Long F, McMahon AP, Lang RA, et al. 2005. Canonical Wnt signaling in differentiated osteoblasts controls osteoclast differentiation. Dev Cell. 8(5): 751-764.
- Gohil KJ, Patel JA, Gajjar AK. 2010. Pharmacological Review on Centella asiatica: A Potential Herbal Cure-all. Indian J Pharm Sci. **72**(5): 546-556.
- Gong Y, Slee RB, Fukai N, Rawadi G, Roman-Roman S, Reginato AM, Wang H, Cundy T, Glorieux FH, Lev D, et al. 2001. LDL receptor-related protein 5 (LRP5) affects bone accrual and eye development. Cell. **107**(4): 513-523.
- Haftek M, Mac-Mary S, Le Bitoux MA, Creidi P, Seite S, Rougier A, Humbert P. 2008. Clinical, biometric and structural evaluation of the long-term effects of a topical treatment with ascorbic acid and madecassoside in photoaged human skin. Exp Dermatol. 17(11): 946-952.
- Hakki SS, Bozkurt B, Hakki EE, Kayis SA, Turac G, Yilmaz I, Karaoz E. 2014. Bone morphogenetic protein-2, -6, and -7 differently regulate osteogenic differentiation of human periodontal ligament stem cells. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater.

102(1): 119-130.

- Han J, Menicanin D, Gronthos S, Bartold PM. 2014. Stem cells, tissue engineering and periodontal regeneration. Aust Dent J. 59 Suppl 1: 117-130.
- Han N, Zheng Y, Li R, Li X, Zhou M, Niu Y, Zhang Q. 2014. beta-catenin enhances odontoblastic differentiation of dental pulp cells through activation of Runx2. PLoS One. 9(2): e88890.
- Han P, Ivanovski S, Crawford R, Xiao Y. 2015. Activation of the Canonical Wnt Signaling Pathway Induces Cementum Regeneration. J Bone Miner Res. 30(7): 1160-1174.
- Hashim P, Sidek H, Helan MH, Sabery A, Palanisamy UD, Ilham M. 2011. Triterpene composition and bioactivities of Centella asiatica. Molecules. **16**(2): 1310-1322.

- Hoemann CD, El-Gabalawy H, McKee MD. 2009. In vitro osteogenesis assays: influence of the primary cell source on alkaline phosphatase activity and mineralization. Pathol Biol (Paris). **57**(4): 318-323.
- Huang Z, Nelson ER, Smith RL, Goodman SB. 2007. The sequential expression profiles of growth factors from osteoprogenitors [correction of osteroprogenitors] to osteoblasts in vitro. Tissue Eng. 13(9): 2311-2320.
- Issack PS, Helfet DL, Lane JM. 2008. Role of Wnt signaling in bone remodeling and repair. Hss j. **4**(1): 66-70.
- James JT, Dubery IA. 2009. Pentacyclic triterpenoids from the medicinal herb, Centella asiatica (L.) Urban. Molecules. **14**(10): 3922-3941.
- Kao RT, Murakami S, Beirne OR. 2009. The use of biologic mediators and tissue engineering in dentistry. Periodontol 2000. **50**: 127-153.
- Kim JH, Liu X, Wang J, Chen X, Zhang H, Kim SH, Cui J, Li R, Zhang W, Kong Y, et al. 2013. Wnt signaling in bone formation and its therapeutic potential for bone diseases. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 5(1): 13-31.
- Kimura Y, Sumiyoshi M, Samukawa K, Satake N, Sakanaka M. 2008. Facilitating action of asiaticoside at low doses on burn wound repair and its mechanism. Eur J Pharmacol. 584(2-3): 415-423.
- Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, Shimizu Y, Bronson RT, Gao YH, Inada M, et al. 1997. Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell. 89(5): 755-764.
- Kozhevnikova MN, Mikaelian AS, Starostin VI. 2008. [Molecular and genetic regulation of osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells]. Izv Akad Nauk Ser Biol. (3): 261-271.

- Kramer I, Halleux C, Keller H, Pegurri M, Gooi JH, Weber PB, Feng JQ, Bonewald LF, Kneissel M. 2010. Osteocyte Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is required for normal bone homeostasis. Mol Cell Biol. **30**(12): 3071-3085.
- Lee J, Jung E, Kim Y, Park J, Park J, Hong S, Kim J, Hyun C, Kim YS, Park D. 2006. Asiaticoside induces human collagen I synthesis through TGFbeta receptor I kinase (TbetaRI kinase)-independent Smad signaling. Planta Med. **72**(4): 324-328.
- Lee JH, Kim HL, Lee MH, You KE, Kwon BJ, Seo HJ, Park JC. 2012. Asiaticoside enhances normal human skin cell migration, attachment and growth in vitro wound healing model. Phytomedicine. **19**(13): 1223-1227.
- Lee MH, Kwon TG, Park HS, Wozney JM, Ryoo HM. 2003. BMP-2-induced Osterix expression is mediated by Dlx5 but is independent of Runx2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. **309**(3): 689-694.
- Lekic P, McCulloch CA. 1996. Periodontal ligament cell population: the central role of fibroblasts in creating a unique tissue. Anat Rec. **245**(2): 327-341.
- Li J, Sarosi I, Cattley RC, Pretorius J, Asuncion F, Grisanti M, Morony S, Adamu S, Geng Z, Qiu W, et al. 2006. Dkk1-mediated inhibition of Wnt signaling in bone results in osteopenia. Bone. **39**(4): 754-766.
- Lim WH, Liu B, Cheng D, Williams BO, Mah SJ, Helms JA. 2014. Wnt signaling regulates homeostasis of the periodontal ligament. J Periodontal Res. 49(6): 751-759.
- Lim WH, Liu B, Hunter DJ, Cheng D, Mah SJ, Helms JA. 2014. Downregulation of Wnt causes root resorption. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. **146**(3): 337-345.
- Ling Y, Rios HF, Myers ER, Lu Y, Feng JQ, Boskey AL. 2005. DMP1 depletion decreases bone mineralization in vivo: an FTIR imaging analysis. J Bone Miner Res. 20(12): 2169-2177.

- Liu G, Vijayakumar S, Grumolato L, Arroyave R, Qiao H, Akiri G, Aaronson SA. 2009. Canonical Whits function as potent regulators of osteogenesis by human mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biol. 185(1): 67-75.
- Liu N, Shi S, Deng M, Tang L, Zhang G, Liu N, Ding B, Liu W, Liu Y, Shi H, et al. 2011. High levels of beta-catenin signaling reduce osteogenic differentiation of stem cells in inflammatory microenvironments through inhibition of the noncanonical Wnt pathway. J Bone Miner Res. 26(9): 2082-2095.
- Liu Q, Hu CH, Zhou CH, Cui XX, Yang K, Deng C, Xia JJ, Wu Y, Liu LC, Jin Y. 2015. DKK1 rescues osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from periodontal ligaments of patients with diabetes mellitus induced periodontitis. Sci Rep. **5**: 13142.
- Lu J, Duan Y, Zhang M, Wu M, Wang Y. 2016. Expression of Wnt3a, Wnt10b, betacatenin and DKK1 in periodontium during orthodontic tooth movement in rats. Acta Odontol Scand. 74(3): 217-223.
- Lu L, Ying K, Wei S, Fang Y, Liu Y, Lin H, Ma L, Mao Y. 2004. Asiaticoside induction for cell-cycle progression, proliferation and collagen synthesis in human dermal fibroblasts. Int J Dermatol. 43(11): 801-807.
- Lu Y, Qin C, Xie Y, Bonewald LF, Feng JQ. 2009. Studies of the DMP1 57-kDa functional domain both in vivo and in vitro. Cells Tissues Organs. 189(1-4): 175-185.
- Lukyanenko V, Gyorke S. 1999. Ca2+ sparks and Ca2+ waves in saponinpermeabilized rat ventricular myocytes. J Physiol. **521 Pt 3**: 575-585.
- Luu HH, Song WX, Luo X, Manning D, Luo J, Deng ZL, Sharff KA, Montag AG, Haydon RC, He TC. 2007. Distinct roles of bone morphogenetic proteins in osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res. 25(5): 665-677.

- Mangas S, Moyano E, Osuna L, Cusido RM, Bonfill M, Palazon J. 2008. Triterpenoid saponin content and the expression level of some related genes in calli of Centella asiatica. Biotechnol Lett. **30**(10): 1853-1859.
- Maquart FX, Bellon G, Gillery P, Wegrowski Y, Borel JP. 1990. Stimulation of collagen synthesis in fibroblast cultures by a triterpene extracted from Centella asiatica. Connect Tissue Res. 24(2): 107-120.
- Mato L, Wattanathorn J, Muchimapura S, Tongun T, Piyawatkul N, Yimtae K, Thanawirattananit P, Sripanidkulchai B. 2011. Centella asiatica Improves Physical Performance and Health-Related Quality of Life in Healthy Elderly Volunteer. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2011: 579-467.
- Morvan F, Boulukos K, Clement-Lacroix P, Roman Roman S, Suc-Royer I, Vayssiere B, Ammann P, Martin P, Pinho S, Pognonec P, et al. 2006. Deletion of a single allele of the Dkk1 gene leads to an increase in bone formation and bone mass. J Bone Miner Res. 21(6): 934-945.
- Moses T, Papadopoulou KK, Osbourn A. 2014. Metabolic and functional diversity of saponins, biosynthetic intermediates and semi-synthetic derivatives. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 49(6): 439-462.
- Mukhopadhyay M, Shtrom S, Rodriguez-Esteban C, Chen L, Tsukui T, Gomer L, Dorward DW, Glinka A, Grinberg A, Huang SP, et al. 2001. Dickkopf1 is required for embryonic head induction and limb morphogenesis in the mouse. Dev Cell. **1**(3): 423-434.
- Nagatomo K, Komaki M, Sekiya I, Sakaguchi Y, Noguchi K, Oda S, Muneta T, Ishikawa I. 2006. Stem cell properties of human periodontal ligament cells. J Periodontal Res. **41**(4): 303-310.
- Nakashima K, Zhou X, Kunkel G, Zhang Z, Deng JM, Behringer RR, de Crombrugghe B. 2002. The novel zinc finger-containing transcription factor

osterix is required for osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Cell. **108**(1): 17-29.

- Nemoto E, Sakisaka Y, Tsuchiya M, Tamura M, Nakamura T, Kanaya S, Shimonishi M, Shimauchi H. 2016. Wnt3a signaling induces murine dental follicle cells to differentiate into cementoblastic/osteoblastic cells via an osterix-dependent pathway. J Periodontal Res. 51(2): 164-174.
- Nowwarote N, Osathanon T, Jitjaturunt P, Manopattanasoontorn S, Pavasant P. 2013. Asiaticoside induces type I collagen synthesis and osteogenic differentiation in human periodontal ligament cells. Phytother Res. **27**(3): 457-462.
- Ohta S, Yamada S, Matuzaka K, Inoue T. 2008. The behavior of stem cells and progenitor cells in the periodontal ligament during wound healing as observed using immunohistochemical methods. J Periodontal Res. **43**(6): 595-603.
- Otto F, Thornell AP, Crompton T, Denzel A, Gilmour KC, Rosewell IR, Stamp GW, Beddington RS, Mundlos S, Olsen BR, et al. 1997. Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. Cell. 89(5): 765-771.
- Park SY, Kim JE. 2013. Differential gene expression by Osterix knockdown in mouse chondrogenic ATDC5 cells. Gene. 518(2): 368-375.
- Qin C, Brunn JC, Cadena E, Ridall A, Butler WT. 2003. Dentin sialoprotein in bone and dentin sialophosphoprotein gene expressed by osteoblasts. Connect Tissue Res. 44 Suppl 1: 179-183.
- Qiu W, Chen L, Kassem M. 2011. Activation of non-canonical Wnt/JNK pathway by Wnt3a is associated with differentiation fate determination of human bone marrow stromal (mesenchymal) stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 413(1): 98-104.

- Rahman S, Oh JH, Cho YD, Yoon WJ, Yu FH, Baek JH, Ryoo HM, Woo KM. 2012. Wnt3a stimulates DSPP expression directly by activation of canonical Wnt signaling pathway. Bone. 50: S77-S78.
- Rao TP, Kuhl M. 2010. An updated overview on Wnt signaling pathways: a prelude for more. Circ Res. **106**(12): 1798-1806.
- Rosen H, Blumenthal A, McCallum J. 1967. Effect of asiaticoside on wound healing in the rat. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. **125**(1): 279-280.
- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M, Robey PG, Wang CY, Shi S. 2004. Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet. 364(9429): 149-155.
- Shimono M, Ishikawa T, Ishikawa H, Matsuzaki H, Hashimoto S, Muramatsu T, Shima K, Matsuzaka K, Inoue T. 2003. Regulatory mechanisms of periodontal regeneration. Microsc Res Tech. 60(5): 491-502.
- Shukla A, Rasik AM, Jain GK, Shankar R, Dhawan BN. 1999. In vitro and in vivo wound healing activity of asiaticoside isolated from Centella asiatica. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. **65**: 1–11.
- Sreenath T, Thyagarajan T, Hall B, Longenecker G, D'Souza R, Hong S, Wright JT, MacDougall M, Sauk J, Kulkarni AB. 2003. Dentin sialophosphoprotein knockout mouse teeth display widened predentin zone and develop defective dentin mineralization similar to human dentinogenesis imperfecta type III. J Biol Chem. 278(27): 24874-24880.

Sumrejkanchanakij P, Tamamori-Adachi M, Matsunaga Y, Eto K, Ikeda MA. 2003. Role of cyclin D1 cytoplasmic sequestration in the survival of postmitotic neurons. Oncogene. 22(54): 8723-8730.

Suzuki S, Haruyama N, Nishimura F, Kulkarni AB. 2012. Dentin sialophosphoprotein and dentin matrix protein-1: Two highly phosphorylated proteins in mineralized tissues. Arch Oral Biol. 57(9): 1165-1175.

- Takada I, Mihara M, Suzawa M, Ohtake F, Kobayashi S, Igarashi M, Youn MY, Takeyama K, Nakamura T, Mezaki Y, et al. 2007. A histone lysine methyltransferase activated by non-canonical Wnt signalling suppresses PPARgamma transactivation. Nat Cell Biol. 9(11): 1273-1285.
- Tang B, Zhu B, Liang Y, Bi L, Hu Z, Chen B, Zhang K, Zhu J. 2011. Asiaticoside suppresses collagen expression and TGF-beta/Smad signaling through inducing Smad7 and inhibiting TGF-betaRI and TGF-betaRII in keloid fibroblasts. Arch Dermatol Res. 303(8): 563-572.
- Tang Y, Zhou X, Gao B, Xu X, Sun J, Cheng L, Zhou X, Zheng L. 2014. Modulation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling attenuates periapical bone lesions. J Dent Res.
 93(2): 175-182.
- Valenta T, Hausmann G, Basler K. 2012. The many faces and functions of betacatenin. Embo j. **31**(12): 2714-2736.
- Verdelis K, Ling Y, Sreenath T, Haruyama N, MacDougall M, van der Meulen MC, Lukashova L, Spevak L, Kulkarni AB, Boskey AL. 2008. DSPP effects on in vivo bone mineralization. Bone. 43(6): 983-990.
- Vinaya Bhat KP, Sriram Balaji S, Aruna Bhat. 2011. Role of Tissue Engineering in Dentistry. JIADS. 2(1): 37-42. CKORN UNIVERSITY
- Wan J, Gong X, Jiang R, Zhang Z, Zhang L. 2013. Antipyretic and anti-inflammatory effects of asiaticoside in lipopolysaccharide-treated rat through up-regulation of heme oxygenase-1. Phytother Res. 27(8): 1136-1142.
- Wang B, Li H, Liu Y, Lin X, Lin Y, Wang Y, Hu X, Zhang Y. 2014. Expression patterns of WNT/beta-CATENIN signaling molecules during human tooth development. J Mol Histol. 45(5): 487-496.
- Wu F, Bian D, Xia Y, Gong Z, Tan Q, Chen J, Dai Y. 2012. Identification of Major Active Ingredients Responsible for Burn Wound Healing of Centella asiatica Herbs. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2012: 848093.

- Xu CL, Wang QZ, Sun LM, Li XM, Deng JM, Li LF, Zhang J, Xu R, Ma SP. 2012. Asiaticoside: attenuation of neurotoxicity induced by MPTP in a rat model of Parkinsonism via maintaining redox balance and up-regulating the ratio of Bcl-2/Bax. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 100(3): 413-418.
- Yang Y, Ge Y, Chen G, Yan Z, Yu M, Feng L, Jiang Z, Guo W, Tian W. 2014. Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells regulate osteogenic differentiation of dental follicle cells through the Wnt pathway. Bone. 63: 158-165.
- Ye G, Li C, Xiang X, Chen C, Zhang R, Yang X, Yu X, Wang J, Wang L, Shi Q, et al. 2014. Bone morphogenetic protein-9 induces PDLSCs osteogenic differentiation through the ERK and p38 signal pathways. Int J Med Sci. 11(10): 1065-1072.
- Ye L, MacDougall M, Zhang S, Xie Y, Zhang J, Li Z, Lu Y, Mishina Y, Feng JQ. 2004. Deletion of dentin matrix protein-1 leads to a partial failure of maturation of predentin into dentin, hypomineralization, and expanded cavities of pulp and root canal during postnatal tooth development. J Biol Chem. 279(18): 19141-19148.
- Ye L, Mishina Y, Chen D, Huang H, Dallas SL, Dallas MR, Sivakumar P, Kunieda T, Tsutsui TW, Boskey A, et al. 2005. Dmp1-deficient mice display severe defects in cartilage formation responsible for a chondrodysplasia-like phenotype. J Biol Chem. 280(7): 6197-6203.
- Yin Z, Yu H, Chen S, Ma C, Ma X, Xu L, Ma Z, Qu R, Ma S. 2015. Asiaticoside attenuates diabetes-induced cognition deficits by regulating PI3K/Akt/NF-kappaB pathway. Behav Brain Res. 292: 288-299.
- Zhang L, Li HZ, Gong X, Luo FL, Wang B, Hu N, Wang CD, Zhang Z, Wan JY. 2010. Protective effects of Asiaticoside on acute liver injury induced by lipopolysaccharide/D-galactosamine in mice. Phytomedicine. 17(10): 811-819.


VITA

Miss Atika Resti Fitri was born on April 20, 1991 in Medan, Indonesia. She graduated the degree of Doctor Dental Surgery (D.D.S) in 2014 from Faculty of Dentistry, University of Sumatera Utara. She started to study in Oral Biology program for master degree in 2014 at Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University. The research was performed at the Research Unit of Mineral Tissue, Faculty of Dentistry, Chulalongkorn University.





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University